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3. Since at least 2012, and continuing to the present, Defendants have provided 

caging services to multiple international direct mail fraud schemes that target victims in the 

United States, primarily elderly Americans.  Solicitations are mailed from international locations 

to potential victims throughout the United States.  The solicitations are styled as personalized 

letters, but are actually form letters sent out by the thousands.  Although there are dozens of 

different solicitations, all contain misrepresentations designed to induce elderly and vulnerable 

victims to send payments to post office (“P.O.”) boxes registered to Defendants Trends Service 

in Kommunikatie, B.V., (“Trends”) and Kommunikatie Service Buitenland, B.V., (“KSB”).  The 

solicitations falsely claim that the individual recipient has already won, or will soon win, cash or 

valuable prizes or will otherwise come into great fortune, and they urge victims to make 

payments in order to receive the promised cash or prizes.  The solicitations generally fall into 

one of three categories:  

 Solicitations that falsely claim that the victim has been declared the winner of a 
lottery or sweepstakes and that the victim will receive their winnings if they pay a 
processing fee.  See infra ¶¶ 35-49, 62. 

 Solicitations that falsely claim that the victim has won a large sum of money and 
then urge the victim to purchase a “guaranteed,” “secret” method for winning 
lotteries and other games of chance.  See infra ¶¶ 50-54, 64, 67. 

 Solicitations that purport to be from a person with psychic powers who promises 
to use their abilities to improve the victim’s financial and personal circumstances.  
The solicitations often state that the psychic has seen the individual recipient 
winning large sums of money through the lottery.  The solicitations urge the 
recipient to purchase various supernatural and divinatory objects or services in 
order to achieve the predicted wealth.  See infra ¶¶ 55-59, 65, 68. 

4. All of these solicitations contain multiple false and misleading representations. 

5. At their place of business in the Netherlands, Defendants sort, process, and 

catalogue hundreds of thousands of victim payments and responses annually, on behalf of 

multiple fraud schemes.   
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6. Victims, especially elderly and vulnerable victims, suffer financial losses from the 

mail fraud schemes that Defendants perpetrate.  The Government estimates that victims send 

over $18 million annually to P.O. boxes controlled by Defendants in response to solicitations 

containing the types of misrepresentations described above.  

7. For the reasons stated herein, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1345, the United States 

seeks to enjoin Defendants’ ongoing schemes to defraud using the United States mail in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. § 1341. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1345 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1345.   

9. Venue lies in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2). 

PARTIES 

10. Plaintiff is the United States of America.   

11. Defendant Trends is, and was at all times relevant to this action, a Dutch business 

entity.  Trends’ principal place of business is Zonnebaan 54, 3542 EG Utrecht, the Netherlands.  

In connection with the matters alleged herein, Trends has caused fraudulent solicitations to be 

placed in the United States mail at the United States Postal Service International Service Center 

located at John F. Kennedy International Airport (the “New York ISC”) in the Eastern District of 

New York and elsewhere.  Trends has also caused fraudulent solicitations to be delivered 

through the United States mail to victims who reside in the Eastern District of New York 

12. Defendant KSB is, and was at all times relevant to this action, a Dutch business 

entity.  KSB’s principal place of business is Zonnebaan 54, 3542 EG Utrecht, the Netherlands.  

In connection with the matters alleged herein, KSB has caused fraudulent solicitations to be 
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placed in the United States mail at the New York ISC in the Eastern District of New York and 

elsewhere.  KSB has also caused fraudulent solicitations to be delivered through the United 

States mail to victims who reside in the Eastern District of New York 

13. Defendant Erik Dekker is, and was at all times relevant to this action, an owner, 

officer, or director of both Trends and KSB.  Trends and KSB are owned by a holding company, 

Stecha Holding, B.V.  Defendant Erik Dekker is the sole owner and director of Stecha Holding, 

B.V.  Erik Dekker resides in Langbroek, a town within the province of Utrecht, the Netherlands.  

In connection with the matters alleged herein, Erik Dekker has caused fraudulent solicitations to 

be placed in the United States mail at the New York ISC in the Eastern District of New York and 

elsewhere.  Dekker has also caused fraudulent solicitations to be delivered through the United 

States mail to victims who reside in the Eastern District of New York. 

DEFENDANTS’ ONGOING FRAUDULENT SCHEMES 

14.  Beginning at least as early as 2011, Defendants have engaged in, are engaging in, 

and will continue to engage in multiple mail fraud schemes that have defrauded victims 

throughout the United States.     

15.  In furtherance of the fraud schemes, solicitation letters are sent from foreign 

countries through the international postal system and the United States mail to potential victims 

throughout the United States.  The solicitations use a wide range of fraudulent tactics calculated 

to induce elderly and vulnerable victims to send money to Defendants.   

16. The solicitations are styled as personalized letters.  They claim that the victim is 

the sole recipient of the letter, or one of a small number of recipients, and that the solicitation 

was sent to the individual victim based on information about him or her (such as financial need 

or a vision that a psychic had about the victim).  They claim that the individual recipient has 
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already won, or will soon win or receive, cash or valuable prizes.  They urge victims to make 

payments, usually ranging from $15 to $55, in order to receive the promised cash or prizes.    

17. In reality, after making the payment, none of the victims ever receive the 

promised money or prizes.  The advertised services and products do not bring wealth to the 

purchasers as promised.  The solicitations contain inconspicuous fine print that purports to set 

out terms and conditions.  In many cases, these difficult-to-read “disclaimers” simply reiterate 

and reinforce the misrepresentations in the main part of the solicitation.  See, e.g., Exhibit C at 

6.1  In other solicitations, these small-font passages directly contradict the claims in the main 

body of the solicitation.  For example, solicitations claim that the recipient has already been 

confirmed the winner of a check or prize in bold, prominent lettering, but then explain in 

inconspicuous text that the prize drawing has not yet taken place or that there is no prize drawing 

and the victim is agreeing to purchase an item that is not mentioned in the regular-size font.  See, 

e.g., Exhibit D at 6.   

18. Despite misrepresentations that the solicitations are unique and personalized, 

thousands of nearly identical, purportedly personalized solicitations are sent every month to 

potential victims throughout the United States.  The advertised services and products are not 

unique or personalized to the individual victims.  Mail merge software is used to insert the names 

and addresses of potential victims into pre-written form letters.   

19. Each solicitation contains a response card and a pre-addressed return envelope.  

The recipient is instructed to fill out the response card and mail it with their payment.  The 

response cards resemble order forms and invite victims to pay with bank check, certified check, 

money order, or credit card.  The response cards also give victims the opportunity to select, for 

                                                 
1 All exhibits cited herein are attached hereto.  The names of the recipients have been redacted to 
protect their privacy. 
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example, one of two valuable prizes, see, e.g., Exhibit C at 7, or to select from different products 

or services guaranteed to bring future wealth, see, e.g., Exhibit F at 12.  

20. The return envelopes are pre-addressed to various P.O. boxes located in the 

Netherlands.  See, e.g., Exhibit A at 7.  All of the P.O. boxes are registered to Defendants, who 

control more than fifty P.O. boxes in the Netherlands, which they use in furtherance of the mail 

fraud schemes.    

21. When they receive incoming mail from victims, Defendants open the mail, review 

and sort it, and record the victim’s response and payment method and amount in a customer 

database.  Defendants record the names and addresses of the victims who send money in 

response to the fraudulent solicitations in a customer database.  These services are known in the 

direct mail industry as “caging” services.   

22. In their role as the caging service for multiple international direct mail fraud 

schemes, Defendants act as a hub through which hundreds of thousands of victims’ responses 

and payments are sorted, processed, and recorded.   

23. Defendants identify which recipients send money in response to the solicitations.  

These victims are then bombarded with numerous additional, similar solicitations.     

24. Defendants know that the solicitations are fraudulent because they receive and 

process the response cards that victims fill out and mail with payments to Defendants’ P.O. 

boxes.  Even if Defendants never see the full solicitations (they do, as explained below), the 

response cards by themselves are plainly fraudulent.  The response cards direct victims to send 

payment in exchange for a large check or prizes worth tens of thousands of dollars.  See e.g., 

Exhibit C at 7.  Defendants know that identical solicitations are mass mailed to thousands of 
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potential victims, and it is obvious that thousands of people could not have won such valuable 

awards.   

25. Similarly, other response cards offer for sale purportedly “secret” and “exclusive” 

methods that are guaranteed to ensure that the recipient will excel at games of chance and 

repeatedly win large amounts of money.  See, e.g., Exhibit H at 7.  Defendants know that the 

methods are not secret or exclusive, but rather are sold to thousands of victims.   

26. Defendants know how victims are affected by the fraudulent solicitations because 

victims frequently send handwritten letters to Defendants, along with their filled-in response 

cards and payments.  The letters demonstrate that elderly and vulnerable victims believe the false 

claims in the solicitations.  For example, victims send in the required fees while expressing their 

gratitude and joy over the money they believe they have won.   

27. Defendants also know that the victims are defrauded by the solicitations, because 

victims frequently send complaints, saying that they sent in the requested money but never 

received the promised money or prizes, or that the item they did receive was worthless.  

Examples of victim responses are provided as Exhibits I - K (sent to P.O. boxes registered to 

Trends) and Exhibits L & M (sent to P.O. boxes registered to KSB).   

28. Defendants know that the solicitations are fraudulent, because, in 2015 alone, the 

U.S. Postal Inspection Service issued approximately 70 administrative Determinations of 

Nonmailability (“DONs”) for solicitations that were part of the fraudulent schemes.   
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29. Each DON was mailed to one of the P.O. boxes registered to the Defendants with 

a sample of the intercepted solicitation.  Each DON made clear that the solicitations were 

unlawful.2   

30. Defendants therefore know of the fraudulent nature of the solicitations.  Despite 

having received such notice, Defendants continue to participate in the fraudulent schemes.   

SPECIFIC MISREPRESENTATIONS 
 

Solicitations Misrepresent That Victims Have Won or Will Receive Cash or Prizes 

31. Solicitations inform recipients that they have won or will receive cash or prizes, 

typically an amount greater than $20,000.  

32. Recipients are instructed that winnings can be delivered only after the recipient 

pays a “fee” or some other administrative expense. 

33. Victims send the requested money by check, cash, or credit card, to Defendants’ 

P.O. boxes in the Netherlands through the United States mail and Dutch post.  

34. Victims never receive the promised cash or prizes.    

The Midas Financial Group Solicitation 

35. One such solicitation purports to be from the Liquidation Asset Trust Fund of the 

Midas Financial Group.  See Exhibit A at 5-8.   

36. On the solicitation, the amount “$15,000,000.00 USD” is prominently displayed 

and the heading announces in bold all-capital lettering:  “MONIES NOTICE – PRIVATE 

                                                 
2 In the DON process, the U.S. Postal Inspection Service determines whether foreign mail 
entering the United States contains lottery-related matter, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1302 or 
facsimile checks, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 3001(k).  The DON process does not screen for 
violations of 18 U.S.C. § 1341, and the DONs mailed to Defendants did not explicitly state that 
the solicitations violated 18 U.S.C. § 1341.  Nonetheless, the sample solicitations mailed to 
Defendants in the DONs were fraudulent on their face and thus provided Defendants with notice 
of the fact that they were performing caging services for fraudulent mailing campaigns.   
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LETTER . . . FINANCIAL TRUST ESTABLISHED IN YOUR NAME.”  The solicitation 

misrepresents that the recipient has been designated a beneficiary of a trust and that as much as 

$15,000,000.00 in trust assets are likely to be paid out to the recipient.  At various points the 

recipient is referred to as a “GUARANTEED Nominated Beneficiary,” “Verified nominee,” 

“designee,” and “nominated trustee/beneficial recipient.”  Specific misrepresentations contained 

in this solicitation include the following: 

 $15,000,000.00 USD FIFTEEN MILLION US DOLLARS Confirmed.  

 You are designated nominee.  TRADING TRUSTS have been created to 
redistribute cash as per MANDATE.  YOU ARE BENEFICIARY.  THIS IS 
NOT A MISTAKE.  

 Verify each step to receive your CASH AWARD when funds become realized 
when designated trades are finalized YOU WILL RECEIVE REALIZED 
FUNDS, 100% GUARANTEED.  No small type or trick questions! 

  [Victim name] - PRESUMPTIVE CANDIDATE.  If the needed 
administration fee is received on time and your STATUS CHANGES TO 
PAYEE (simply send administration fee, your status is locked in). 

 
The solicitation directs recipients to cut off the response card and mail it back using the provided 

return envelope along with an “administrative fee” of $14.87.    

37. The response card contains a partial disclaimer which states in pertinent part, “I 

hereby agree that . . . total aggregate sum can reach up to 15 million.  I wish to be a cash income 

beneficiary for my fractional share of aggregate profit distribution of unrealized funds . . . .”  

This “disclaimer” reinforces the false impression that the victim is the beneficiary of a very large 

trust and will soon receive money from the trust.        

38. Nearly identical solicitations were sent to thousands of other potential victims.  

All of the solicitations contained a return envelope pre-addressed to:  Mergers Access Division, 

P.O. Box 8396, 3503 RJ Utrecht, the Netherlands.  That P.O. box is registered to Trends, and 

Trends received and processed the responses mailed by victims to that P.O. box.    
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39. The U.S. Postal Inspection Service issued a DON and mailed it to P.O. Box 8396 

with a sample of this solicitation on two separate occasions, May 7, 2015, and May 28, 2015.  

See Exhibits A & B.   

The Merchandise Processing Center Solicitation 

40. Another solicitation creates the false impression that its recipient has won a 2015 

Audi and need only mail in a $20.00 “owner/acquisition fee” to arrange for delivery.  See Exhibit 

C at 5-9.   

41. The heading claims:  “NOTICE PRIOR TO DELIVERY:  ISSUED 

ENTITLEMENT/ AUTOMOBILE.”  The solicitation bears a picture of a car; next to the picture 

it purports to provide the length and width of the car, and states:  “IMPORTANT ARRIVAL / 

PARKING SITE DIMENSIONS > Carefully inspect Automobile parking dimensions.  Check 

your available space on street, garage, or lot.”  References to a “Freight Bin” for the delivery 

item imply that the award item is going to be a large item, such as a vehicle.  Specific 

misrepresentations contained in this solicitation include the following: 

 Your shipment was confirmed on 5/8/2015, all delivery and storage fees have 
been paid by PDN.  Your assigned Freight Bin contains 2015 AUDI A6 
SEDAN retail value of $65,485.00 as insured for this or other merchandise 
entitlement. 

 DUE TO HIGH VALUE OF THE 2015 AUDI A6 SEDAN, delivery is 
conducted adhering to PDN arranged Transit requiring a Personal ID shown at 
point of delivery.  In advance of Your Delivery complete and return your 
form. 

 Recipient of the 2015 AUDI A6 SEDAN is permitted to elect to receive cash 
equivalent of $65,485.00 by Bank Check instead of physical possession of the 
car.  Please indicate your preference for this important decision.  Your 
Assigned property must be claimed promptly.    

 
The response card is styled as a “Permit To Deliver” and gives the recipient the option to select 

“park on street or lot” or “park in garage.”  The following items are listed on the response card, 
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as though they are items that will be delivered to the recipient:  “Warranty”; “Keys (2)”; 

“Owners’ Manual”; “2015 AUDI A6 SEDAN maximum value insured for replacement.”   

42. At the bottom of the solicitation in small font is the following statement:   

The item a recipient is entitled to purchase has been determined before each 
mailing . . . .  All mailings are assigned a different property allocation number 
which is assigned to an item that is for sale.  Each customer who returns the 
required fee will be purchasing one of the items listed.  The items available in this 
offer include one 2014 Audi A6, one 52” sony hdtv, one Panasonic digital camera 
and approximately one million unique jewelry items.   

The print appears to be intentionally blurry in order to make it difficult to read.  Moreover, even 

if a victim were to read this statement, it does nothing to dispel the misrepresentations elsewhere 

in the solicitation that the recipient has already been designated a grand prize winner.     

43. Nearly identical solicitations were sent to thousands of other potential victims.  

All of the solicitations contained a return envelope pre-addressed to:  Merchandise Processing 

Center, P.O. Box 40374, 3504 AD Utrecht, the Netherlands.  That P.O. box is registered to 

Trends, and Trends received and processed the responses mailed by victims to that P.O. box.    

44. The U.S. Postal Inspection Service issued a DON and mailed it to P.O. Box 40374 

with a sample of this solicitation on July 24, 2016.  See Exhibit C.   

The Financial Transfer Institute Solicitation 

45. Another similar solicitation represents that the victim has won a $30,000 award 

and urges the victim to respond quickly or else the check which has already been issued in their 

name will be canceled.  See Exhibit D at 5-11.   

46. The solicitation purports to be from A. Ferguson of the Financial Transfer 

Institute.  Specific misrepresentations contained in this solicitation include the following: 

 To convince you of our good intentions, I have enclosed a PAYMENT 
AGREEMENT, IRREVOCABLE AND CONFIRMED, for you as well as 
your FORMAL CERTIFICATE OF PERSONAL STATUS enabling you to 
claim the CHECK YOU HAVE WON! 
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 $30,000 will be paid to you if you return the PERSONAL CODE COUPON: 
RFG-924 186 urgently awaited by the Independent Adjudicator! 

 As Finance Director, I formally commit to release the CHECK for 
$30,000.00 to the holder of the unique PERSONAL CODE COUPON RFG-
924 186 urgently awaited by the Independent Adjudicator.  I confirm that if 
you return your registration card (of a winner) within 7 days (preferably) 
YOU CAN BE ABSOLUTELY SURE OF RECEIVING THE CHECK AS 
SOON AS POSSIBLE!  

 
The reply card warns “urgent reply awaited!” and provides a box for the recipient to mark next to 

the words “YES, I want my request to be treated with SECURE PROCESSING which 

guarantees the secure dispatch of my CHECK.  In order to benefit from this service I ask you to 

send me the ‘GUARANTEE FOR CASH WINNINGS’ for the modest amount of $50.”  The 

recipient can select “priority processing” for an extra $5.   

47. A disclaimer explains that the prize draw has not yet taken place.  The fine print 

further explains that the “guarantee for cash winnings” is “a piece of jewelry that can bring luck 

and the chance to win big amounts of cash.”  This small, hard-to-read statement contradicts the 

overall false impression created by the solicitation, which is that the recipient will receive a 

check for $30,000 upon payment of the $50 fee.        

48. Nearly identical solicitations were sent to thousands of other potential victims.  

All of the solicitations contained a return envelope pre-addressed to:  FTI, P.O. Box 8202, NL-

3503 RE Utrecht, the Netherlands.  That P.O. box is registered to KSB, and KSB received and 

processed the responses mailed by victims to that P.O. box.   

49. The U.S. Postal Inspection Service issued a DON and mailed it to P.O. Box 8202 

with a sample of this solicitation on two separate occasions, August 21, 2015, and September 15, 

2015.  See Exhibits D & E.   
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The Magister Davids Solicitation 

50. A solicitation that purports to be from “Magister Davids” informs the recipient:  

“Today is the luckiest day of your life! [Victim name], I selected you in order to give you 

$36,000.00 EXCLUSIVELY to you!”  See Exhibit F at 6.   

51. The solicitation repeatedly refers to “you” and uses the victim’s name; it is 

typewritten but contains text printed in a typeface designed to look like handwriting.  The 

solicitation attempts to gain potential victims’ confidence by falsely claiming they have already 

won a check and then urges them to purchase a product.  Specifically, Magister Davids extends 

an offer “destined exclusively for YOU,” to purchase an invention that will allow the victim to 

win large sums of money.  The solicitation states that the recipient can obtain a refund if “the 

promised events do not come true within 90 days.”  The response card requests $50 which is 

described variously as “my modest payment,” “a symbolic contribution of US $50,” and “my 

participation towards cost of US $50.”  Specific misrepresentations include: 

 I have a check for you – a check exclusively for the Main Winner! 

 Confirmed Award For You: [Victim name], now it is an official fact: You 
have been declared MAIN WINNER and SOLE RECIPIENT of a ONE-
TIME-ONLY CHECK of 36,000.00 dollars!  This is a formal and indisputable 
guarantee! 

 Reminder: your award has been really confirmed for you. 

 
52. The fine print at the end of the solicitation explains that the contest is still open 

and that the prize draw has not yet occurred.  The inconspicuous statement contradicts the 

multiple prominent misrepresentations that the recipient has won a $36,000 check.   

53. Nearly identical solicitations were sent to thousands of other potential victims.  

Victims are instructed to return their responses in an enclosed return envelope to:  Magister 
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Davids, P.O. Box 40388, NL-3504, AD Utrecht, the Netherlands.  That P.O. box is registered to 

KSB, and KSB received and processed the responses mailed by victims to that P.O. box. 

54. The U.S. Postal Inspection Service issued a DON and mailed it to P.O. Box 40388 

with a sample of this solicitation on June 26, 2015.  See Exhibit F.  The U.S. Postal Inspection 

Service had previously issued a DON based on a different, but similar, Magister Davids 

solicitation and mailed it to another P.O. box registered to KSB with a sample of the solicitation 

on June 2, 2015.  See Exhibit G. 

The Olivia Kramer Solicitation 

55. Another example appears to be a follow-up solicitation that is mailed to victims 

who have already made an initial payment.  The first part of the solicitation purports to be from 

“Dr. Walter Barkley, Legal Department Director.”  See Exhibit H at 6. 

56. The solicitation heading announces “AN ADDITIONAL CHECK FOR 

$22,500.00” and claims in bold, underlined lettering: “a check for $22,500.00 will soon be sent!”  

The solicitation acknowledges the victim’s previous payment and promises to send “a check for 

$22,500.00 that of course is in addition to the $25,000.00 you have already claimed (I can 

officially confirm that your claim has been recorded).”  It asserts that the victim is “now in direct 

contact with Olivia Kramer”; notes that Mrs. Kramer has “extraordinary powers”; and states that 

the victim is “very lucky” that Mrs. Kramer is “personally handling” his or her case.  In addition 

to the correspondence from Dr. Walter Barkley, the solicitation also includes a second letter that 

purports to be from “Olivia Kramer, who wishes to contact ONLY [victim name].”  The 

response card instructs the victim to write down 6 numbers, answer a set of questions, and pay 

$50 for a consultation with Olivia Kramer.  In the letter, Mrs. Kramer promises that, by using her 
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“extraordinary power,” she will “magnetize” the victim’s chosen numbers and help the victim 

win the lottery.     

57. The fine print sets forth “OFFICIAL CONDITIONS OF THE CONTEST 

‘$22,500.00 IN YOUR NAME.’”  In direct contradiction to the statement written in regular-size 

font, the fine print explains that the winner of $22,500 has not yet been selected but, rather, will 

be chosen in a random draw that has yet to take place. 

58. Nearly identical solicitations were sent to thousands of other potential victims.  

All of the solicitations contained a return envelope pre-addressed to:  Dr. Walter Barkley, P.O. 

Box 1219, NL-3600 BE Maarssen, the Netherlands.  That P.O. box is registered to KSB, and 

KSB received and processed the responses mailed by victims to that P.O. box.    

59. The U.S. Postal Inspection Service issued a DON and mailed it to P.O. Box 1219 

with a sample of this solicitation on May 15, 2015.  See Exhibit H.   

60. The representations described above in paragraphs 31-59 are false or misleading.  

Solicitations Misrepresent That They Are Personalized Letters   
Sent to Only a Small Number of Recipients 

 
61. The solicitations misrepresent to victims that they are individualized and that the 

victim is one of a small number of recipients.  In reality, Defendants know that nearly identical 

solicitations are sent to thousands of potential victims.  The fraudulent schemes use mail merge 

software to insert the names and addresses of individuals into pre-written form letters.   

62. Solicitations misrepresent that the recipient has already been declared the sole 

winner of a lottery, sweepstakes, or prize competition.  They create this false impression, in part, 

by providing bar codes and “personal” reference numbers.  For example, one solicitation asserts 

“UNIQUE LETTER – NO REMINDER” and “One single person had indeed received this 

coupon . . .  It’s you and you alone!”  See Exhibit D at 5.  A box on the solicitation labeled 
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“PERSONAL CODE COUPON RFG-924 186” states:  “Sent only to: [victim name]; Enables 

the Finance Department to identify the GRAND WINNER of $30,000.00.”  Id. at 8.  It indicates 

that the recipient can claim a $30,000 prize by cutting out the personal code coupon, affixing it 

to the response card, and mailing it to Defendants.  Id.  However, the identical solicitation with 

the identical numerical code was sent to other potential victims.  Compare Exhibit D with 

Exhibit E.   

63. Other solicitations misrepresent that the victim was personally selected by the 

letter’s purported author to be a recipient.  Such solicitations falsely assert that the victim is one 

of only a few who have been selected for the opportunity to purchase the offered product or 

service.  In reality, victims received the solicitations because their names appeared on a mailing 

list, and nearly identical solicitations have been mailed to thousands of recipients.    

64. The Magister Davids solicitation, for example, contains the following 

misrepresentations that the solicitation is personalized: 

 This letter effectively bears your address, [victim name], showing that you are 
the only person who has been declared officially a PRIVILEGED recipient! 

 Now YOU have this fantastic possibility because I suggested your name as 
one possible candidate.  This is because I believe that this miraculous method 
could considerably improve your personal financial situation. 

 Of course the offer . . . has to remain absolutely confidential and secret, 
because it involves only you, [victim name]. 

 
65. The Olivia Kramer solicitation makes similar false claims, such as:  

 I really want you to win because you have an absolute need for this money! 

 I am doing this for you and you alone, [victim name]!  Even though I am more 
easily fatigued than when I was younger, I will magnetize these 6 numbers 
only for you. 

 Dear [victim name], don’t ask me why I am doing this for you and not 
someone else.  My gift is such that even I do not know . . . it comes from a 
deep intuition.   
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 I am writing to you without waiting because as soon as your name was 
mentioned, I had the feeling that you really and urgently needed my help. 

 If you agree (you must decide in the next 48 hours), please fill out the short 
questionnaire.  Don’t worry about confidentiality or data mining:  I will use 
this information only to concentrate on you.   

 
Solicitations Misrepresent That the Products and Services They Offer for Sale Will Bring the 

Purchaser Wealth and Good Fortune 
 

66. The solicitations urge recipients to purchase various products, such as psychic 

services or a purportedly “proven” method for obtaining wealth, which they fraudulently 

misrepresent will bring the purchaser wealth and other good fortune.  The solicitations describe 

happy customers who are alleged to have won hundreds of thousands of dollars.  See, e.g., 

Exhibit F at 9 & 11.  Contrary to these representations, the purported products and services do 

not bring wealth or good fortune. 

67. Such misrepresentations are included in the Magister Davids solicitation.  See 

Exhibit F at 8-12.  The solicitation attempts to obtain the victim’s confidence by making the false 

promise that the victim has already won a check for $36,000.  Then the recipient is urged to 

purchase TURBO-TOP AWARDS through the following misrepresentations: 

 This is TURBO-TOP-AWARDS, the extremely profitable and absolute top secret 
method used by the greatest millionaires that will help you IN ALL CASES to 
become rich within 12 weeks by playing games of chance!  

 The only thing to do is play your favorite game (the lottery, horse races, etc.).  With 
one particular difference:  It will not be a game of “chance” anymore- at least not for 
you!  Because when using “TURBO-TOP AWARDS”, you can win considerable 
sums of money, almost for sure. 

 You too will be able – just like the people I told you about – to apply this “profitable” 
discovery to your benefit!  From now on it depends only on you whether or not to 
profit from your luck.  Professor Flaming is giving you a fail-safe method to access it. 
 

The response card instructs the recipient to pay “a symbolic contribution of US$50 . . . for my 

Personal Passport for Wealth,” which is “given only to a select group of privileged persons.”    
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68. Similarly, the Olivia Kramer solicitation promises that her personalized psychic 

services will make the recipient prosperous.  See Exhibit H at 7-9.  It claims: 

 You will soon be rich with at least $ 150,000.00 in your account.  You will be 
sheltered from this financial problem that I see on your horizon. 

 Just as I did for Annabel, I am asking you to send me the numbers of your choice 
so I can do what is necessary to enable you to win.  I can guarantee that the 
winning lottery numbers will ensure that you will soon receive a large sum of 
money that will shelter you from the financial problems I have seen coming 
rapidly in your direction.   

 You must contact me within 48 hours and Dr. Barkley will then send me your 
response.  I will then be able to immediately start working on your 6 numbers so 
you can WIN. 
 

69. The specific misrepresentations identified in paragraphs 31 through 68 are only a 

few examples of the similar misrepresentations contained in dozens of form letter solicitations.  

Defendants know that the letters sent to victims are not in fact personalized letters, but are form 

letters sent to thousands of victims throughout the United States.  

HARM TO VICTIMS 

70. Victims, especially elderly and vulnerable victims, suffer financial losses from the 

mail fraud schemes that Defendants perpetrate.  The Government estimates that victims mail 

over 530,000 payments to Defendants each year, and that Defendants receive over $18 million 

annually from victims in response to solicitations containing the types of misrepresentations 

described above. 

71. This harm to victims is ongoing and will continue without the injunctive relief 

sought by the United States.  

COUNT I  
(18 U.S.C. § 1345 – Injunctive Relief) 

 
72. The United States realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 

71 of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.  
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73. By reason of the conduct described herein, Defendants violated, are violating, and 

are about to violate 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1349 by executing schemes or artifices to defraud for 

obtaining money or property by means of false or fraudulent representations with the intent to 

defraud, and, in so doing, use the United States mail.   

74. Upon a showing that Defendants are committing or about to commit mail fraud, 

the United States is entitled, under 18 U.S.C. § 1345, to a temporary restraining order, a 

preliminary injunction, and a permanent injunction restraining all future fraudulent conduct and 

any other action that this Court deems just in order to prevent a continuing and substantial injury 

to the victims of fraud. 

75. As a result of the foregoing, Defendants’ conduct should be enjoined pursuant to 

18 U.S.C. § 1345. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the plaintiff United States of America requests of the Court the following 

relief: 

(a) A temporary restraining order under 18 U.S.C. § 1345 as follows: 

i. Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other 

persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from 

committing mail fraud, as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1341; 

ii. Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other 

persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from using the 

United States mail or causing others to use the mail to distribute any 

advertisements, solicitations, or promotional materials: 
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A.  on behalf of any actual or fictional individual or entity purporting 

to offer psychic, clairvoyant or astrological items or services for a fee; 

B.  that represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly, that 

the recipient of the solicitation was specifically selected to receive the 

mailing based on a reason other than the fact that the recipient’s name 

appears on a mailing list; 

C.  that represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly, that 

services or items offered for purchase will, or could, improve the 

victim’s financial condition;   

D.  that represent, directly or indirectly, expressly or impliedly that 

the victim has won, will win, or will receive cash or awards; or 

E.  any other false or misleading advertisements, solicitations, or 

promotional materials; 

iii. Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other 

persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from 

receiving or causing to be placed into the United States mail any incoming 

mail that responds, by sending payment or otherwise, to materials described in 

paragraph (a)(ii)(A)-(E), supra; 

iv. Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other 

persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from selling, 

offering for sale, leasing, or offering for sale or lease any lists of U.S. 

residents or mailing lists of any type compiled from U.S. residents who have 
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responded to any of the materials described in paragraph (a)(ii)(A)-(E), supra, 

thereby causing such materials to be sent to U.S. residents; 

v. Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other 

persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from 

performing “caging services” on mail received from U.S. residents in response 

to any of the materials described in paragraph (a)(ii)(A)-(E), including 

opening mail received from the United States; entering or inputting data about 

U.S. residents into a database or forwarding such data; handling, forwarding, 

or depositing payments received from U.S. residents, including currency, bank 

checks, certified checks, money orders, or credit card charge authorizations; 

or handling or forwarding any mail received from U.S. residents;  

vi. Enjoining Defendants, their agents, officers, and employees, and all other 

persons and entities in active concert or participation with them from 

destroying, deleting, moving, removing, or transferring any and all business, 

financial, accounting, and other records concerning Defendants’ operations 

and the operations of any other corporate entity controlled by Defendants; 

vii. Authorizing the United States Postal Service to detain all of Defendants’ 

incoming mail, addressed to any of Defendants’ P.O. boxes in the 

Netherlands, which is responsive to any of the materials described in 

paragraph (a)(ii)(A)-(E), supra;   

viii. Authorizing the United States Postal Service to detain any of the materials 

described in paragraph (a)(ii)(A)-(E), supra, and any substantially similar 

advertisements, solicitations, and promotional materials that are deposited into 
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the United States mail by Defendants, their agents, officers, or employees, or 

any other persons or entities in active concert or participation with them; and 

ix. Authorizing the United States Postal Service to detain any of the materials 

described in paragraph (a)(ii)(A)-(E), supra, and any substantially similar 

advertisements, solicitations, and promotional materials brought into the 

United States as freight and destined for delivery to a potential victim in the 

United States.  

(b) A preliminary injunction on the same basis and to the same effect. 

(c) A permanent injunction on the same basis and to the same effect. 

(d) For such other and further relief as the Court shall deem just and proper.  
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Dated: June 1, 2016      

 
 
ROBERT L. CAPERS 
United States Attorney 
Eastern District of New York 
271 Cadman Plaza East 
Brooklyn, New York 11201 
 
 
/s/ John Vagelatos  
JOHN VAGELATOS 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Tel. (718) 254-6182 
Fax: (718) 254-7489 
john.vagelatos@usdoj.gov 

BENJAMIN C. MIZER  
Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General  
Civil Division  
United States Department of Justice 
  
JONATHAN F. OLIN 
Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
 
MICHAEL S. BLUME 
Director  
Consumer Protection Branch 
 
JILL FURMAN 
Deputy Director 
 
/s/ Kerala T. Cowart           
KERALA T. COWART 
California Bar No. 284519 
Trial Attorney 
Consumer Protection Branch 
U.S. Department of Justice 
P.O. Box 386 
Washington, DC 20044 
Telephone: (202) 353-3881 
Fax: (202) 514-8742 
Email: Kerala.T.Cowart@usdoj.gov

 






























































































































































































































































































































































































































